
You Helped Pay For This Luxury Hotel In 
Nigeria Built With Fraud Money 
A Nigerian man used $1.3 million in fraudulent COVID benefits to construct a 120-room 

resort In Nigeria 

Abiola Femi Quadri used money stolen from US taxpayers to build a luxury hotel in 

Nigeria . While American families struggled through the pandemic, he was 

methodically draining fraudulent benefit accounts at ATMs across Los Angeles, 

then wiring the proceeds overseas to build a 120-room hotel. 

The Oyins International Hotel 

The Oyins International Hotel in Ijebu Ode, Nigeria, is a result of one of the craziest 

COVID-19 relief fraud schemes prosecuted to date.  

This hotel is one of the most luxurious in Nigeria.  And if you paid taxes, you 

helped pay for it! 

Complete with a nightclub, shopping mall and rooms featuring private balconies, 

the hotel operates as a legitimate business charging about $60 per night — all built 

with $1.3 million stolen from American taxpayers. 



On July 10, Quadri was sentenced to more than 11 years in federal prison for his 

scheme. But his hotel continues operating thousands of miles away, beyond the 

reach of U.S. authorities. 

He Was A Prolific 
Fraudster 

Quadri's operation began in 2020. 

Using stolen Social Security numbers 

from 91 victims, he filed more than 

100 fraudulent unemployment and 

disability claims with California's 

Employment Development 

Department and Nevada's system. 

To take the money out, he obtained 

EDD debit cards that had no daily 

withdrawal limits, then spent three 

years methodically draining funds 

from Bank of America ATMs across 

California. Court documents show he netted approximately $881,192 in 

unemployment benefits and $210,156 in disability benefits. 

Bank surveillance footage captured Quadri making withdrawals under dozens of 

different identities. In one instance, investigators found photos on his social media 

showing him wearing distinctive clothing that matched what he wore during 

fraudulent ATM transactions. 

He Ran A Business Called Rock Of Peace And Committed 
Marriage Fraud Too 

Quadri operated a business which they allege was also involved in his fraud 

scheme.  

His nonprofit organization, Rock of Peace, had contracts with the state to provide 

daycare services for developmentally disabled children through the Regional 

Center system.  



During their investigation, authorities discovered that he had stolen food-aid debit 

cards intended for the disabled children.  

But they also discovered that he probably committed marriage fraud as well. Court 

documents also revealed he had obtained his U.S. permanent residency through 

what he admitted in private messages was a "fake wedding." 

When federal agents searched his phone after his arrest, they found images of 17 

counterfeit checks totaling more than $3.3 million, along with messages about 

cashing the forged instruments through shell companies he had created under 

various aliases. 

Caught At The Airport Trying To Flee Country 

When Quadri attempted to flee the country he was caught. On September 20, 2024, 

federal agents arrested him at Los Angeles International Airport as he tried to 

board a one-way flight to Dubai — likely planning to continue to Nigeria, where his 

co-conspirator Roland Iwhiwhu Otega had already fled. 

The arrest came just one day after prosecutors filed criminal charges. Quadri's was 

attempting to leave as federal investigators closed in, following the same path as 

Otega, who had fled to Nigeria in August 2023, five days after authorities searched 

his apartment. 

International Recovery Is Almost Impossible 

Once stolen funds cross international borders, recovery becomes nearly 

impossible. Quadri used wire transfers and shell companies to move at least 

$500,000 to Nigeria. Once it was converted to foreign real estate, it has become 

extremely difficult for U.S. authorities to seize. 

While the United States and Nigeria have maintained an extradition treaty since 

1931, asset recovery remains problematic. The continued operation of Oyins 

International Hotel demonstrates this challenge — despite its fraudulent funding 

being exposed in federal court, the property functions as a legitimate business, 

generating revenue and employing local workers. 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

Central District of California

United States of America

v. 

ABIOLA FEMI QUADRI, 

            Defendant

Case No.

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT BY TELEPHONE  
OR OTHER RELIABLE ELECTRONIC MEANS

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.  

As described in the accompanying attachment, defendant violated the following statutes: 

Code Sections Offense Description

18 U.S.C. §§ 1349 and 1028A Conspiracy to commit wire and bank 
fraud.

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

Please see attached affidavit.

Continued on the attached sheet.

/s Francisco Solorio Perez
Complainant’s signature

Postal Inspector Francisco Solorio Perez
Printed name and title

Attested to by the applicant in accordance with the requirements of Fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1 by telephone. 

Date:
Judge’s signature

City and state: Los Angeles, California Joel Richlin, U.S. Magistrate Judge
Printed name and title

Judge’s sisssssss gnature

. RRRRRRRRRRRRRR. Crim. P. 444444.1 by yyy teeeeeeeeelephon

9/19/24

2:24-mj-05734-DUTY

9/19/2024
CGM
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Complaint Attachment 
 

Count One, 18 U.S.C. § 1349 
 Beginning in or before 2020, and continuing through the present, in Los Angeles County, within 
the Central District of California, and elsewhere, defendant ABIOLA FEMI QUADRI, and others, 
conspired to commit wire and bank fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 
and 1344.  The object of the conspiracy was carried out, and to be carried out, in substance, as follows:   
Defendant and his co-conspirators would steal the personal identifying information of victims, and apply 
for disability and unemployment benefits in their names through the California Employment 
Development Department (“EDD”).  Defendant and his co-conspirators would counterfeit disability 
certifications purportedly issued by real doctors, whose identities were also stolen.  Defendant and his 
co-conspirators would take the EDD debit cards, issued through Bank of America, which were credited 
with the fraudulently obtained disability benefits.  Defendant and his co-conspirators would then use the 
EDD debit cards at ATMs to withdraw in cash the benefits.  As a result of this fraud, defendant and his 
co-conspirators defrauded federally-insured financial institutions including Bank of America.  
Defendant and his co-conspirators used interstate wires to defraud their victims throughout this 
conspiracy. 
 

Count Two, 18 U.S.C. § 1028A 
 Beginning in or before 2020, and continuing through the present, in Los Angeles County, within 
the Central District of California, and elsewhere, defendant ABIOLA FEMI QUADRI knowingly 
transferred, possessed, and used, without lawful authority, a means of identification of another person 
during and in relation to a felony violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349, Conspiracy to 
Commit Wire and Bank Fraud, as charged in Count One, knowing that the means of identification 
belonged to another actual person. 
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AFFIDAVIT 

I, Francisco Solorio Perez, being duly sworn, hereby depose 

and state as follows:  

I.TRAINING AND EXPERIENCE 

1. I am a United States Postal Inspector employed by the 

United States Postal Inspection Service (“USPIS”), Los Angeles 

Division, in Los Angeles, California, where I have served since 

August 2019.  I have completed a fourteen-week basic training 

course in Potomac, Maryland, which included training in the 

investigation of identity theft via the United States Mail.  I 

am currently assigned to the USPIS Los Angeles Division, Mail 

Fraud team where my responsibilities include the investigation 

of crimes against the United States Postal Service (“USPS”) and 

crimes related to the misuse and attack of the mail system, 

including theft of Unites States Mail, fraud, and related 

activity in connection with access devices, identity theft, and 

unauthorized use of other persons’ information for financial 

gain. 

2. I am familiar with the facts and circumstances 

described herein.  This affidavit is based upon my personal 

involvement in this investigation, my training and experience, 

and information obtained from various law enforcement personnel 

and witnesses, including information that has been reported to 

me either directly or indirectly.  This affidavit does not 

purport to set forth my complete knowledge or understanding of 
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the facts related to this investigation.  Unless specifically 

indicated otherwise, all conversations and statements described 

in this affidavit are related in substance and part only.  All 

figures, times, and calculations set forth herein are 

approximate. 

II.SUMMARY AND PURPOSE OF AFFIDAVIT: COMPLAINT 

3. This affidavit is made in support of a criminal 

complaint and arrest warrant against ABIOLA FEMI QUADRI 

(“QUADRI”), for violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Sections 1349, and 1028A (Conspiracy to Commit Wire and Bank 

Fraud, and Aggravated Identity Theft). 

III.PROBABLE CAUSE STATEMENT 

A. Summary of Probable Cause  

4. Based on an investigation by the State of California’s 

Employment Development Department (“EDD”), QUADRI is associated 

with at least 72 fraudulent Unemployment Insurance (“UI”) and 19 

fraudulent Disability Insurance (“DI”) claims that were 

submitted to EDD beginning since 2020.  The personal identifying 

information (“PII”), including social security numbers (“SSNs”), 

of at least 91 suspected victims was used to file these 

fraudulent UI and DI claims. Investigators identified actual 

losses by the State of California of over $800,000 as to the 

fraudulent UI claims and over $200,000 as to the DI claims.  

5. EDD associated the claims by commonalities in their 

online applications, such as the purportedly certifying 
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physician or practitioner for the DI claims was often similar.  

Surveillance video depicts QUADRI physically withdrawing funds 

from at least 38 of the accounts at issue that are not in his 

name. 

B. Background on California Unemployment Insurance 

6. Since, 1935, the United States Department of Labor’s 

UI program has provided unemployment benefits to eligible 

workers who become unemployed through no fault of their own.  

This program ensures that at least a significant portion of the 

necessities of life -- most notably food, shelter, and clothing  

-- are met on a weekly basis while the worker seeks employment.  

UI beneficiaries who meet requirements set by their state are 

eligible for this temporary financial assistance.  Each state 

administers a separate UI program within the guidelines 

established by federal law.  In the State of California, EDD 

administers the UI program for residents and others physically 

performing work activities in California. 

7. Generally speaking, regular UI claimants must be: 1) 

unemployed through no fault of their own; 2) able to, and 

available for, work; 3) willing to accept suitable work; and 4) 

actively seeking work. 

8. On March 13, 2020, the President of the United States 

declared the COVID-19 pandemic an emergency under the Robert T. 

Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act.  As a 

result, Congress passed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and 
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Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), which the President signed 

into law on March 27, 2020.  The CARES Act provided over $2 

trillion in economic relief protections to the American people 

from the public health and economic impacts of COVID-19. 

9. Prior to the enactment of the CARES Act, to be 

eligible for UI administered by EDD, a person had to have been 

employed and working in California and received at least a 

certain amount of wages from an employer in the 18 months 

preceding his or her UI benefits claim.  Because of this 

requirement, self-employed workers, independent contractors, and 

employees with insufficient earnings were not eligible to 

receive regular UI benefits. 

10. The CARES Act established a new program -- Pandemic 

Unemployment Assistance (“PUA”) -- to provide unemployment 

benefits during the COVID-19 pandemic to people who did not 

previously qualify for regular unemployment insurance benefits 

including business owners, self-employed workers, independent 

contractors, and those with a limited work history who were out 

of business or had significantly reduced their services as a 

direct result of the pandemic.  UI benefits provided under the 

PUA program are sometimes referred to as PUA benefits. 

11. Under the PUA provisions of the CARES Act, a person 

who is a business owner, self-employed worker, independent 

contractor, or gig worker can qualify for PUA benefits 

administered by EDD if he or she previously performed such work 

in California and is unemployed, partially unemployed, unable to 
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work, or unavailable to work due to a COVID-19-related reason. 

C. Background on California Disability Insurance 

12. DI is a component of the State Disability Insurance 

(“SDI”) program established in 1946.  DI provides partial wage 

replacement benefits to eligible California workers who are 

unable to work due to a non-work-related illness, injury, or 

pregnancy.  DI benefits may also be paid for work-related 

illness or injuries under certain circumstances prescribed by 

law. 

13. A DI claim can be filed over the internet using EDD’s 

SDI Online portal, by submitting a paper claim form, “Claim for 

Disability Insurance Benefits” (form DE2501) via mail, or by 

applying in person at a DI office.  The claimant must complete 

part A, “Claimants Statement” of the form DE2501, and have a 

physician/practitioner complete part B, “Physician/Practitioner 

Certificate,” certifying their disability and stating an 

expected release date to return to regular or customary work. 

D. EDD and UI Benefits Are Paid by Debit Card 

14. In most cases, EDD UI and DI benefits are paid by 

means of Electronic Benefit Payments to an EDD debit card.  A 

debit card is automatically mailed to claimants who are 

determined eligible for EDD UI and/or DI benefits.  EDD, through 

Bank of America, provides claimants with a Visa debit card that 

is valid for three years from the date of issue.  EDD benefit 

payments for which claimants are eligible are deposited to the 
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debit card account.  Claimants have access to their funds 24 

hours a day, seven days a week at any location where Visa debit 

cards are accepted and at ATMs.  The claimant’s name appears on 

the debit card as the benefit payment recipient.  Once the card 

is received, the claimant activates the card by calling a phone 

number on a sticker placed on the card or by activating it 

online by providing their card number, expiration date, social 

security number and the three-digit security code on the card.  

The debit card has no daily purchase or withdrawal limits, and 

the claimants have full access to their available balance at any 

time, although individual ATM may limit how much their ATMs will 

dispense in a single transaction. 

E. Fraudulent DI and UI Claims Are Filed Under Different Identities 

15. EDD Investigator Ivant Romo reviewed approximately 19 

DI claims filed online under approximately 19 different 

identities for an approximate actual loss of $210,156 and a 

potential loss of approximately $436,488.  Investigator Romo 

noticed the DI claims and the certifying physician/practitioner 

portion of the claims were all submitted online, and the 

claimant’s occupation was often the same, among other 

commonalities. 

16. Investigator Romo reviewed approximately 72 UI claims 

filed online with the State of California under approximately 72 

different identities.  The approximate actual loss associated 

with the 72 UI claims is $881,192.    
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17. Because this affidavit relies on bank records obtained 

in December, 2023, it necessarily does not cover more recent 

frauds in the same detail.  But QUADRI appears to have continued 

the conspiracy through 2024. 

F. QUADRI is on ATM Video Using at Least 38 other Persons’ Accounts  

18. On or about December 2023, Investigator Romo received 

surveillance footage from Bank of America, which showed the same 

individual making withdrawals at ATMs under different accounts 

for different persons.  Investigator Romo compared DMV 

photographs of the claimants with that of the surveillance 

footage, and determined the person who appeared on ATM 

surveillance footage did not match any of the claimants’ DMV 

photographs.  Investigator Romo compared DMV photographs of 

QUADRI with that of surveillance footage and identified QUADRI 

as the individual making the withdrawals under at least 38 

accounts, including those of identity theft victims Michelle 

Davey (“Davey”), Ronald Tung (“Tung”), and Douglas Cost (“Cost”) 

as discussed later. 

19. Investigator Romo told me he had reviewed social media 

photographs posted by QUADRI that sometimes show him wearing 

unusual or distinctive clothing, which he has also sometimes 

observed in the ATM surveillance photographs of the fraudulent 

withdrawals.  Further, Investigator Romo has personally observed 

QUADRI on the street.  He explained to me that considering his 

personal observations of QUADRI, and the many ATM surveillance 
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photographs he has reviewed, he is sure that QUADRI conducted 

many fraudulent withdrawals. 

20. On or about December 19, 2022, Investigator Romo and I 

spoke with Dr. Lai regarding fraudulent DI claims that listed 

Dr. Lai as the certifying physician/practitioner.  Investigator 

Romo showed Dr. Lai approximately four claims associated to 

QUADRI from 2020 and 2022 submitted to EDD which listed Dr. Lai 

as the certifying physician/practitioner.  Dr. Lai stated he did 

not certify any of the four claims and did not authorize anyone 

to complete them on his behalf.  Included in the four claims 

shown to Dr. Lai were two claims filed on Davey’s behalf filed 

on 2021 and 2022 and a claim filed on Tung’s behalf filed on 

2021.  

21. I reviewed the fraudulent DI claims filed on behalf of 

Davey and the DI claim filed on behalf of Tung.  Based on my 

review of Davey’s DI claims, there was an approximate total loss 

of $7,366 and a potential loss of $150,644.  Based on my review 

of Tung’s DI claim, there was an approximate total loss of 

$9,471 and a potential loss of $67,600. 

22. On or about May 16, 2023, Investigator Romo and I 

spoke with Davey who stated she has never filed a DI claim with 

EDD.  Davey confirmed her date of birth and SSN listed in the 

claim filed with EDD in 2021 and 2022. 

23. I compared video surveillance images of ATM 

withdrawals related to Davey’s DI claim and DMV photographs of 

QUADRI; and I am confident that QUADRI is the person captured on 
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ATM video conducting the following transactions using Davey’s 

identity: 

Date Location Transaction Amount 

4/22/2021 Los Angeles, CA $1,000.00 

4/26/2021 Altadena, CA $1,000.00 

 

24. On May 16, 2023, Davey stated she did not give anyone 

permission to possess or use her SSN or to file any DI claim on 

her behalf. 

25. On May 16, 2023, Investigator Romo and I spoke with 

Tung who stated he has never filed a DI claim with EDD.  Tung 

confirmed his date of birth and SSN listed in the claim filed 

with EDD in 2021. 

26. I compared video surveillance images of ATM 

withdrawals related to Tung’s DI claim and DMV photographs of 

QUADRI; and I am confident that QUADRI is the person captured on 

ATM video conducting the following transactions using Tung’s 

identity: 

Date Location Transaction Amount 

4/27/2021 Los Angeles, CA $1,000.00 

4/29/2021 Inglewood, CA $1,000.00 

5/01/2021 Altadena, CA $1,000.00 

 

27. On May 16, 2023, Tung stated he did not give anyone 

permission to possess or use his SSN or to file any DI claim on 
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his behalf. 

28. I reviewed the fraudulent UI claim filed on behalf of 

Cost.  Based on my review of Cost’s UI claim, there was an 

approximate total loss of $19,500. 

29. On April 3, 2024, Investigator Romo and I spoke with 

Cost who stated he has never filed a UI claim with EDD.  Cost 

confirmed his date of birth and SSN listed in the claim filed 

with EDD in 2020.  Cost stated he has not lived nor worked in 

California since about 2005. 

30. I compared video surveillance images of ATM 

withdrawals related to Cost’s UI claim and DMV photographs of 

QUADRI; and I am confident that QUADRI is the person captured on 

ATM video conducting the following transactions using Cost’s 

identity: 

Date Location Transaction Amount 

9/01/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/02/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/03/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/05/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/07/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/11/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/12/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/13/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/14/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

9/15/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 
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9/17/2020 Pasadena, CA $1,000.00 

 

31. On April 3, 2024, Cost stated he did not give anyone 

permission to possess or use his SSN or to file any UI claim on 

his behalf. 

G. QUADRI IS NOT A U.S. CITIZEN AND WILL BE DEPORTED IF CONVICTED 

32. On or about July 8, 2024, Special Agent Daisy Garza 

reviewed QUADRI’s immigration status and informed me that he is 

a permanent alien resident.  AUSA Andrew Brown informed me that 

permanent aliens convicted of an “aggravated felony” under 

immigration law lose their status and are deported.  8 USC 

Section 1227(a)(2)(A)(iii).  He also informed me that fraud 

offenses for which the loss exceeds $10,000 count as “aggravated 

felonies” under immigration law.  8 USC Section 1101(a)(43)(M).  

H. QUADRI’S CO-CONSPIRATOR FLED AFTER HIS RESIDENCE WAS SEARCHED 

33. On social media, QUADRI has posted several photographs 

of himself with his co-conspirator Roland Iwhiwhu Otega 

(“Otega”).  On August 3, 2023, I executed a federal search 

warrant at Otega’s residence investigating this scheme, which 

revealed evidence of identity theft.  On August 8, 2023, 

according to flight records, Otega flew from Los Angeles 

International Airport to Doha, Qatar then to Lagos, Nigeria, and 

has not returned to the U.S.  Otega and QUADRI appear to have 

shared at least one victim.  In 2023, the address of a DI claim 
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filed on behalf Rosaly Ferrer (“Ferrer”) was updated to Otega’s 

Residence.  QUADRI appears on video surveillance images of ATM 

withdrawals using Ferrer’s identity.     

I. QUADRI HAS BEEN WIRING FUNDS ABROAD 

34. Bank records indicate that a JP Morgan Chase Bank 

account for which QUADRI is the signer has been wiring money 

abroad:  from on or about November 13, 2023, to on or about July 

11, 2024, the account was used to wire transactions totaling 

approximately $503,545 to include funds going to Prinx Chengshan 

Shandong Tire Co LTD (Agricultural Bank of China), Eping City 

Hengxin Trading Co LTD (Industrial and Commercial Bank of 

China), Prachi Exports (Yes Bank LTD) and Shouguang Firemax Tyre 

Co LTD (Jinan Rural Commercial Bank Co., LTD).       

J. QUADRI HAS A ONE-WAY TICKET TO DUBAI 

35. On September 19, 2024, HSI Special Agent Garza 

conducted a query of QUADRI’s travel records through DHS 

databases. The query revealed QUADRI booked an outbound flight 

departing on September 21, 2024, from Atlanta, GA arriving on 

September 22, 2024, in Dubai, UAE. There is no record of a 

return flight found for QUADRI.  

36. AUSA Andrew Brown informed me that there is no 

extradition treaty between the United States and the United Arab 

Emirates. 

/// 
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IV.CONCLUSION 

37. For the reasons stated above, there is probable cause 

to believe that ABIOLA FEMI QUADRI violated 18 U.S.C. Section 

1349 (conspiracy to commit bank and wire fraud), and 1028A 

(aggravated identity theft). 

Attested to by the applicant in 
accordance with the requirements 
of Fed. R. Crim. P. 4.1 by 
telephone on this      day of 
September, 2024. 

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGEEDDDDDDDDDD SSSSSSSSSSTATES MAGISTRAT

19th

A. Joel Richlin
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

q b i o la dew, ~ ~vad ri ,
Defendant.

Case No.: /~✓ 2`f - ~?3~

ORDER OF DETENTION

I.

A. () On motion of the Government in a case allegedly involving:

1. () a crime of violence.

2. () an offense with a maximum sentence of life imprisonment or death.

3. () a narcotics orcontrolled-substance offense with a maximum sentence

of 10 or more years.

4. () any felony if defendant has been convicted of two or more prior

offenses described above.

5. () any felony not otherwise a crime of violence that involves a minor

victim, possession or use of a firearm or destructive device or any

other dangerous weapon, or failure to register under 18 U.S.C. § 2250.
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B. (v~ On motion by the Government/( ) on Court's own motion, in a case

allegedly involving:

(~ On the further allegation by the Government of:

1. (✓~ a serious risk that the defendant will flee.

2. () a serious risk that the defendant will:

a. () obstruct or attempt to obstruct justice.

b. () threaten, injure or intimidate a prospective witness or

juror, or attempt to do so.

C. The Government ( ) is/( ~s not entitled to a rebuttable presumption that no

condition or combination of conditions will reasonably assure the defendant's

appearance as required and the safety or any person or the community.

II.

A. (~ The Court finds that no condition or combination of conditions will

reasonably assure:

1. (v~ the appearance of the defendant as required.

() and/or

2. () the safety of any person or the community.

B. () The Court finds that the defendant has not rebutted by sufficient evidence to

the contrary the presumption provided by statute.

III.

The Court has considered:

A. (X) the nature and circumstances of the offenses) charged, including whether

the offense is a crime of violence, a Federal crime of terrorism, or involves

a minor victim or a controlled substance, firearm, explosive, or destructive

device;

B. (X) the weight of the evidence against defendant;
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C. (X) the history and characteristics of the defendant; and

D. (X) the nature and seriousness of the danger to any person or the community.

IV.

The Court also has considered all the evidence adduced at the hearing, the

arguments and/or statements of counsel, and the Pretrial Services Report and

recommendation.

V.

The Court bases the foregoing findings) on the following:

A. (~~ Flight risk:
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B. () Danger:
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VI.

A. () The Court finds a serious risk that defendant will:

1. () obstruct or attempt to obstruct justice.

2. () attempt to/ ( )threaten, injure or intimidate a witness or juror.

B. The Court bases the foregoing findings) on the following:

VII.

A. IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the defendant be detained before trial.

B. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendant be committed to the custody of the

Attorney General for confinement in a corrections facility separate, to the extent

practicable, from persons awaiting or serving sentences or being held in custody

pending appeal.

C. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the defendant be afforded reasonable opportunity

for private consultation with counsel.

D. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that on order of a Court of the United States or on

request of any attorney for the Government, the person in charge of the corrections

facility in which defendant is confined deliver the defendant to a U.S. marshal for

the purpose of an appearance in connection with a court proceeding.

DATED: ( 23 Z
J AN ROSENBLUTH
U.S. MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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